
  

Marianne Dugan (OSB # 93256) 
FACAROS & DUGAN 
485 E. 13th Ave. 
Eugene, OR 97401 
(541) 484-4004 
Fax no. (541) 686-2972 
Internet e-mail address mdugan@ecoisp.com 
        Of Attorneys for Plaintiffs  
 
 
 

 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF OREGON 

 
 

CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL 
DIVERSITY  
 
 
and 
 
THE XERCES SOCIETY 
   

  Plaintiffs, 
 

          v. 
 
GALE NORTON, Secretary of the 
Interior 
 
and 
 
STEVEN A. WILLIAMS, Director 
U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
 
                   Defendants. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case No. 
 
 
 
 
 
COMPLAINT 
(16 U.S.C. 1533(b)(3)(B)) 

 

COMPLAINT 1



  

 1. In this Endangered Species Act (ESA) case, Plaintiffs challenge the failure of 

Defendant Gale Norton, Secretary of the U.S. Department of the Interior, and Defendant Steven 

Williams, Director of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, (collectively “FWS”) to perform their 

mandatory duty to make a finding and publish the finding in the Federal Register that the listing 

of seven foreign butterflies under the Endangered Species Act is not warranted, is warranted, or 

is warranted by precluded by other pending proposals to list species.  See 16 U.S.C. § 

1533(b)(3)(B).  Secretary Norton and Director Williams are over nine years delinquent in their 

mandatory duty to make a determination with regard to the seven foreign butterflies.  Therefore, 

Plaintiffs seek an order declaring that Secretary Norton and Director Williams have violated their 

mandatory duty and requiring them to make a determination in a timely manner. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

 2. This is a case under the federal Endangered Species Act (ESA), 16 U.S.C. § 1531 

et seq.  Thus, this Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal 

question), 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202 (declaratory and injunctive relief), and 16 U.S.C. § 1540(c) 

and (g) (action arising under the ESA and citizen suit provision).    

 3. Plaintiffs furnished Defendants with written notice of their intent to sue more that 

60 days ago.   Thus, Plaintiffs have complied with the notice requirement of 16 U.S.C. § 

1540(g)(2)(C). 

 4. Plaintiffs have formally demanded that Defendants correct their violations of the ESA 

alleged herein, but Defendants have failed to comply with these demands and continue to do so.  An 

actual controversy therefore exists between the parties within the meaning of 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a) 

(Declaratory Judgment). 
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5. Plaintiff Xerces Society resides in Portland, Oregon.  Plaintiff Center for 

Biological Diversity also has an office in Portland, Oregon.  Therefore, venue is proper in this 

Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(3).  

PARTIES 

6.  Plaintiff CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY (“CBD”) is a non-profit 

501(c)(3) corporation with offices in Portland, Oregon, Oakland, Idyllwild, and San Diego, 

California; Phoenix and Tucson, Arizona; and Pinos Altos, New Mexico.  CBD’s mission is to 

protect endangered species and wild places through science, policy, education, and 

environmental law.    

 7. Plaintiff THE XERCES SOCIETY is a non-profit 501(c)(3) corporation with its 

principle office in Portland, Oregon.  The Xerces Society is an international non-profit 

organization that protects the diversity of life through the conservation of invertebrates. The 

Society advocates for invertebrates and their habitats by working with scientists, land managers, 

educators, and citizens on conservation and education projects. Its core programs focus on 

endangered species, native pollinators, and watershed health. Currently, the Xerces Society has 

over 5,000 active members, from all 50 states, 7 Canadian provinces, and 25 other countries. Its 

members include students, butterfly enthusiasts, university professors, backyard gardeners, zoos, 

conservationists, land managers, researchers, families, beekeepers, libraries, activists, high 

school teachers, outdoor enthusiasts, museums, landscape designers, and others.  They include 

people interested in invertebrates in many ways, from their being beneficial for farms to integral 

parts of healthy ecosystems to fascinating, beautiful animals.   

8. Plaintiffs are actively involved in species and habitat protection issues throughout 

the United States and overseas. Plaintiffs have members who reside in the regions of world 
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where Teinopalpus imperialis, Eurytides marcellinus, Eurytides lysithous harrisianus, Parides 

ascanius, Parides hahneli, Troides (Ornithoptera) meridionalis, and Papilio esperanza 

[hereinafter collectively "the seven foreign butterflies"] live and visit and enjoy the seven foreign 

butterflies’ habitat regularly.  The seven foreign butterflies are pollinators and thus play an 

important and sometimes unique role in the ecology of the areas in which they inhabit.  Plaintiffs'  

members and staff include individuals with interests in the seven foreign butterflies ranging from 

educational and scientific to moral, spiritual and recreational.  These staff and members have 

observed and attempted to observe the seven foreign butterflies in their native habitats and derive 

aesthetic, recreational, scientific, inspirational, conservation, educational, and other benefits from 

the seven foreign butterflies’ existence in these areas on a regular and continuing basis.  

Plaintiffs' members and staff intend to continue to observe and derive benefits from the seven 

foreign butterflies and their habitat in the near future.   

9. Plaintiffs' members and staff's interest in and enjoyment of the seven foreign 

butterflies is dependent, and will continue to be dependant, on the continued existence of 

healthy, sustainable populations and sufficient native habitat for the survival and recovery of the 

species. Plaintiffs' members and staff have participated in efforts to protect and preserve the 

habitat essential to the continued survival of these species.  Furthermore, Plaintiffs, their 

members and staff require the information in the completed status review and finding that 

Defendants are required to prepare in order to carry out their professional and personal activities.  

Defendants' failure to complete the status review, make its available to the public and make the 

required finding are injuring and will continue to injury Plaintiffs, its members and staff by 

inhibiting them from fully performing all of their professional and personal activities.  

Defendants completion of its status review, release of the status review and issuance of its 
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finding will enhance Plaintiffs, its members and staff's ability to carry out their professional and 

personal activities.    

10. Defendants’ violations of law are inhibiting the protection of the seven foreign 

butterflies and their habitat, harming Plaintiffs and there members’ above-described aesthetic, 

recreational, conservation, and scientific interests in the seven foreign butterflies and their 

habitat.  If Defendants continue to withhold protection for the seven foreign butterflies and their 

habitat, Plaintiffs' staff and members' will suffer injury to their recreational, aesthetic, scientific, 

and conservation benefits that they enjoy from the survival and recovery of the species in the 

wild.  

11. Plaintiffs’ injury in fact is fairly traceable to Defendants’ conduct and would be 

redressed by the relief that Plaintiffs seeks in this case.   

12. Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law and bring this action on its own behalf 

and on behalf of its adversely affected members and staff.  

13. Defendant Gale Norton is sued solely in her official capacity as the Secretary of 

the Interior.  The Secretary is the federal official responsible for listing terrestrial species under 

the ESA.   

14. Defendant Steven Williams is sued solely in his official capacity as Director of 

the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.  He is legally charged with implementing the ESA, including 

review and approval of proposed and final listing decisions for endangered and threatened 

species.   

STATUTORY FRAMEWORK 

15. The purpose of the ESA is to conserve endangered and threatened species and the 

ecosystems upon which these species depend.  16 U.S.C. § 1531(b). 
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16. Before the ESA can protect a species facing extinction or that species’ habitat, the 

species must be listed as either threatened or endangered under the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(d).  

The listing process is the essential first step in the ESA’s system of species protection and 

recovery. 

 

17. To this end, the ESA requires the Secretary of the Department of Interior 

(Secretary) to list terrestrial species of plants and animals found to be facing extinction as 

“threatened” or “endangered” based on the best available scientific and commercial data.  16 

U.S.C. §§ 1533(a), (b)(1).  A species is “endangered” if it “is in danger of extinction throughout 

all or a significant portion of its range.”  16 U.S.C. § 1532(6).  A species is “threatened” if it is 

“likely to become an endangered species within the foreseeable future.”  16 U.S.C. § 1532(20).  

Before the ESA can protect a species facing extinction or that species’ habitat, the species must 

be listed as either threatened or endangered under the ESA.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(d).  The listing 

process is the essential first step in the ESA’s system of species protection and recovery. 

18. Species listing is a prerequisite for the substantive protections of the ESA, 

including the requirement that all federal agencies promote the conservation of listed species in 

carrying out their programs, the requirement that federal agencies consult with FWS to ensure 

that their actions do not jeopardize the continued existence of a listed species or adversely 

modify the critical habitat of such species, and the prohibition of unauthorized “taking” of a 

listed species.  16 U.S.C. §§ 1536(a)(1), 1536(a)(2), 1538(a)(1)(B). 

19. There are two methods by which a species may be “listed” under the ESA, and 

thereby afforded the Act’s protections.  First, a species may be listed at the Secretary’s own, 

internal initiative.  See 16 U.S.C. § 1533(a).  Second, the public may submit a petition to the 

COMPLAINT 6



  

Secretary to list a species.  See 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3).  This second method is known as the 

“petition” process. 

 20. Any interested person can begin the listing process by filing a petition to list a 

species with the Secretary.  16 U.S.C. § 1533 (b)(3)(A); 50 C.F.R. § 424.14(a). 

 21. Upon receipt of a petition to list a species, the Secretary has 90 days to make a 

finding as to whether the petition “presents substantial scientific or commercial information 

indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted.”  16 U.S.C § 1533 (b)(3)(A); 50 C.F.R. § 

424.14 (b)(1).  If the Secretary finds that the petition presents substantial information indicating 

that the listing may be warranted, the Secretary then publishes in the Federal Register a “90 day 

finding and commencement of status review.”  16 U.S.C. § 1533)(b)(3)(A). 

 22. After issuing a positive 90-day finding, the Secretary has twelve months from the 

date that it received the petition to make one of three findings: (1) the petitioned action is not 

warranted; (2) the petitioned action is warranted; or (3) the petitioned action is warranted but 

presently precluded by other pending proposals for listing species, provided certain 

circumstances are present.  16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B); 50 C.F.R. § 424.14 (b)(3).  This second 

determination is known as a “12-month finding.”  The Secretary has a mandatory duty to make a 

12-month finding.  Id.   

 23.   If the Secretary determines that a listing is not warranted, she must promptly 

publish this finding in the Federal Register, and that is the end of the administrative process.  16 

U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B)(i). 

24. If the Secretary finds that listing of the species is warranted, then she must publish 

in the Federal Register a proposed rule to list such species as endangered or threatened.  16 

U.S.C. §§ 1533(b)(3)(B)(ii) and 1533(b)(5).  
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25. If the Secretary finds that a listing is “warranted but precluded,” she must show 

that work on the immediate petition is precluded by pending proposals to list other species, and 

that expeditious progress is being made toward a final decision on those proposals.  16 U.S.C. § 

1533(b)(3)(B)(iii).  The Secretary must promptly publish a warranted but precluded finding in 

the Federal Register, together with a description and evaluation of the reasons and data on which 

the finding is based.  Id. 

 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

 26. This case involves seven kinds of foreign swallowtail butterflies.  Teinopalpus 

imperialis is threatened by overcollecting and rapid destruction of the Himalayan mountain 

forests upon which it depends. Eurytides marcellinus has a very restricted breeding habitat in 

Jamaica, where its larval foodplants are being destroyed by cultivation. Eurytides lysithous 

harrisianus has been eliminated by habitat destruction from all but one known site in 

southeastern Brazil, which itself is now under development. Parides ascanius is jeopardized by 

the drainage and development of its subcoastal swamp habitat near Rio de Janeiro. Parides 

hahneli is known only from three localities in Amazonian Brazil, with very specialized habitat, 

and is threatened by overcollection for commercial purposes. Troides meridionalis is threatened 

by the lumbering of its specialized rainforest habitat in New Guinea. Papilio esperanza is known 

only from one site in the cloud forest of Oaxaca, Mexico, and is vulnerable to overcollection.  

See 59 FR 24117 (May 10, 1994). 

 27.  The seven foreign butterflies, in addition to their inherent self-worth, play a 

variety of roles in their habitats.  One of these roles is as pollinators.  Pollinators ensure full 
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harvests and seed production from many agricultural crops and provides for healthy plants grown 

in backyards, community gardens, and other urban areas: 

• Worldwide, of the estimated 1,330 crop plants grown for food, beverages, fibers, 

condiments, spices, and medicines, approximately 1,000 (75 percent) are pollinated by 

animals. It has been calculated that one out of every three mouthfuls of food we eat, and 

beverages we drink, is delivered to us by pollinators.  

• More than half the world's diet of fats and oils comes from oilseed crops. Many of these, 

including cotton, oil palm, canola, and sunflowers, are pollinated by animals.  

• In the U.S., pollination by insects produces $40 billion worth of products annually.  

 28. Despite the importance of pollinators, the ever-expanding conversion of 

landscapes to human uses adversely affects their habitats. A growing body of evidence indicates 

that these beneficial creatures are in serious decline, due to loss, modification, and fragmentation 

of habitat, and the excessive use of pesticides.  

 29. The risk of losing the essential role of pollinators, required for the successful 

propagation of native plant communities, wildlife habitats, and a range of food crops, is real. The 

decline in pollinators must be reversed now, before a crisis occurs. 

 30. As E.O. Wilson, one of the most noted scientists of our time, put it, "Humanity, 

for its own sake, must attend to the forgotten pollinators and their countless dependent plant 

species." 

 31. On January 10, 1994, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (“FWS”) received a 

petition from a member of the Center for Biological Diversity (Ms. Dee E. Warenycia) to list 
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seven foreign swallowtail butterfly species as threatened or endangered under the ESA: 

Teinopalpus imperialis; Eurytides marcellinus; Eurytides lysithous harrisianus; Parides 

ascanius; Parides hahneli; Ornithoptera (Troides) meridionalis; and Papilio esperanza. Finding 

on Petition and Initiation of Status Review of 27 Foreign Butterflies, 59 Fed. Reg. 24,117 (May 

10, 1994). 

 32. On May 10, 1994 published in the Federal Register, pursuant to 16 U.S.C. 

§1533(b)(3)(A) the following: 

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service announces the 90-day finding that a 
petition to add seven kinds of foreign butterflies to the List of Endangered and 
Threatened Wildlife has presented substantial information indicating that the 
action may be warranted. A status review of these butterflies, together with 20 
others that may be of similar concern, is initiated.  . . . 

 

In accordance with section 4(b)(3) of the Act, within 12 months of receipt of 
the petition, the Service will make another finding as to whether the requested 
listing of seven kinds of butterflies is warranted, not warranted, or warranted but 
precluded by other listing measures, and may also announce decisions with 
respect to other kinds of butterflies. 

 

 33. However, by January 10, 1995, 12 months after the FWS received the 

petition to list the seven foreign species, the FWS had not made a finding and had not 

published in the Federal Register a finding regarding whether listing of seven kinds of 

butterflies was warranted, not warranted, or warranted but precluded by other listing 

measures. 

 34. Therefore, on December 11, 2002, Plaintiffs sent a letter to Defendants 

indicating their intent to sue Defendants for their failure to make a finding and published 

the finding in the Federal Register as to whether listing of seven kinds of butterflies was 

warranted, not warranted, or warranted but precluded by other listing measures. 
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 35. 60 days later, Defendants still did not make a finding and published the 

finding in the Federal Register as to whether listing of seven kinds of butterflies was 

warranted, not warranted, or warranted but precluded by other listing measures. 

 36. A staff member of CBD then engaged in a conversation with a FWS employee 

about the status of the seven foreign butterflies petition.  The FWS employee stated that he 

anticipated anticipate having a Federal Register notice published sometime in the fall of 2003 for 

the 7 butterflies covered by the petition.  However, the Fall of 2003 came and went without a 

Federal Register notice regarding whether the listing of the seven foreign butterfly species is not 

warranted, warranted, or warranted but precluded. 

 37. Thus, Plaintiffs had no other alternative but to file this action. 

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF 
Failure to Issue 12-Month Petition Finding 
 (Violation of 16 U.S.C. §§ 1533 (b)(3)(B)) 

 

 38. Plaintiff incorporates herein by reference each and every allegation set forth in 

this Complaint. 

 39. On January 10, 1994, the Secretary received a petition to list the seven foreign 

butterflies. 

 40. On May 10, 1994, the Secretary published in the Federal Register her finding that 

the petition to list the seven foreign butterflies presented substantial scientific and commercial 

information indicating that the petitioned action may be warranted. 

 41. However, by January 10, 1995 and continuing until today, the Secretary has not 

made a finding and has not published notice of such a finding in the Federal Register that the 

petitioned actions is not warranted, is warranted, or is warranted but precluded.  
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 42. As a result, the Secretary violated and continues to be in violation of 16 U.S.C. § 

1533(b)(3)(B) by failing to perform a non-discretionary act or duty within the meaning of the 

ESA’s citizen suit provision, 16 U.S.C. § 1540 (g)(1)(c).  The Secretary and the FWS’ inaction 

also constitutes agency action unlawfully withheld or unreasonably delayed and agency action 

that is arbitrary, capricious, and otherwise not in accordance with the law under the 

Administrative Procedures Act, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request that this Court enter judgment providing the following 

relief: 

A. Declaratory judgment that the Secretary has violated Section 4(b)(3)(B) of the 

ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1533(b)(3)(B) by failing to make and publish in the Federal Register a 12-

month finding regarding the petition to list the seven foreign butterflies. 16 U.S.C. §§ 

1533(b)(3)(B)); 

B. Injunctive relief compelling the Secretary or her designee to make and publish in 

the Federal Register a 12-month finding on the petition to list the seven foreign butterflies; 

C. An order awarding Plaintiff its costs of litigation, including reasonable attorneys’ 

fees; and  

 D. Any other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

 

   ______________________________ 
      Marianne Dugan (OSB # 93256) 
      FACAROS & DUGAN 
      485 E. 13th Ave. 
      Eugene, OR 97401 
      (541) 484-4004 
      Fax no. (541) 686-2972 
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      Internet e-mail address mdugan@ecoisp.com 
               Of Attorneys for Plaintiffs  
 
Of counsel: 
 
Robert Ukeiley (MD 14062) 
Robert Ukeiley, P.S.C. 
Attorney At Law 
433 Center Street 
Berea, KY 40403 
Tel: (859) 986-5402 
Fax: (859) 986-1299 
E-mail: rukeiley@igc.org
 

Dated: ____________ ____, 2004. 
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